
 

 

 

Merton Council 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission  
 
Date: 25 November 2014 

Time: 7.15 pm 

Venue: Committee rooms B & C - Merton Civic Centre, London Road, Morden SM4 
5DX 

AGENDA 

Page Number 

 

1  Declarations of pecuniary interest - see note overleaf   

2  Apologies for absence   

3  Minutes of the meeting held on 7 October 2014  1 - 6 

4  Merton's Welfare Reform Action Plan 2013/14 - Progress 
Update  

7 - 24 

5  Domestic violence needs assessment and way forward  25 - 52 

6  My Merton distribution  53 - 58 

7  Business Plan Update 2015/19  59 - 196 

8  Scrutiny of the Business Plan 2015-19: comments and 
recommendations from the overview and scrutiny panels  

197 - 
200 

9  Minutes of the meeting of the financial monitoring task group, 5 
November 2014  

201 - 
202 

10  Proposal for the recruitment of new co-opted members to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission  

203 - 
208 

11  Work programme 2014/15  209 - 
214 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This is a public meeting – members of the public are very welcome to attend. 
The meeting room will be open to members of the public from 7.00 p.m. 



 

 

 
For more information about the work of this and other overview and scrutiny panels, 
please telephone 020 8545 3864 or e-mail scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, 
visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny 
 
Press enquiries: press@merton.gov.uk or telephone 020 8545 3483 or 4093 
 
Email alerts: Get notified when agendas are published 
www.merton.gov.uk/council/committee.htm?view=emailer 
 



 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Commission membership 
 
Councillors:  
Peter Southgate (Chair) 
Peter McCabe (Vice-Chair) 
Hamish Badenoch 
John Dehaney 
Brenda Fraser 
Suzanne Grocott 
Jeff Hanna 
Russell Makin 
Oonagh Moulton 
Dennis Pearce 
Substitute Members:  
Abigail Jones 
John Sargeant 
David Simpson CBE 
David Williams 
Peter Walker 

Co-opted Representatives  
Simon Bennett, Secondary and Special 
School Parent Governor Representative 
Peter Connellan, Roman Catholic diocese 
Denis Popovs, Primary School Parent 
Governor Representative 
Colin Powell, Church of England diocese 

Note on declarations of interest 

Members are advised to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered at the 
meeting.  If a pecuniary interest is declared they should withdraw from the meeting room during the whole of 
the consideration of that mater and must not participate in any vote on that matter.  If  members consider 
they should not participate because of a non-pecuniary interest which may give rise to a perception of bias, 
they should declare this, .withdraw and not participate in consideration of the item.  For further advice please 
speak with the Assistant Director of Corporate Governance. 

What is Overview and Scrutiny? 
Overview and Scrutiny describes the way Merton’s scrutiny councillors hold the Council’s 
Executive (the Cabinet) to account to make sure that they take the right decisions for the Borough. 
Scrutiny panels also carry out reviews of Council services or issues to identify ways the Council 
can improve or develop new policy to meet the needs of local people.  From May 2008, the 
Overview & Scrutiny Commission and Panels have been restructured and the Panels renamed to 
reflect the Local Area Agreement strategic themes. 
 
Scrutiny’s work falls into four broad areas: 
 

⇒ Call-in: If three (non-executive) councillors feel that a decision made by the Cabinet is 
inappropriate they can ‘call the decision in’ after it has been made to prevent the decision 
taking immediate effect. They can then interview the Cabinet Member or Council Officers and 
make recommendations to the decision-maker suggesting improvements. 

⇒ Policy Reviews: The panels carry out detailed, evidence-based assessments of Council 
services or issues that affect the lives of local people. At the end of the review the panels issue 
a report setting out their findings and recommendations for improvement and present it to 
Cabinet and other partner agencies. During the reviews, panels will gather information, 
evidence and opinions from Council officers, external bodies and organisations and members 
of the public to help them understand the key issues relating to the review topic. 

⇒ One-Off Reviews: Panels often want to have a quick, one-off review of a topic and will ask 
Council officers to come and speak to them about a particular service or issue before making 
recommendations to the Cabinet.  

⇒ Scrutiny of Council Documents: Panels also examine key Council documents, such as the 
budget, the Business Plan and the Best Value Performance Plan. 

 
Scrutiny panels need the help of local people, partners and community groups to make sure that 
Merton delivers effective services. If you think there is something that scrutiny should look at, or 
have views on current reviews being carried out by scrutiny, let us know.  
 
For more information, please contact the Scrutiny Team on 020 8545 3864 or by e-mail on 
scrutiny@merton.gov.uk. Alternatively, visit www.merton.gov.uk/scrutiny 



 

 



All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee. 

 

1 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
7 OCTOBER 2014 

(19.15 - 21.45) 

PRESENT: Councillors Councillor Peter Southgate (in the Chair), 
Councillor Peter McCabe, Councillor Hamish Badenoch, 
Councillor John Dehaney, Councillor Brenda Fraser, 
Councillor Suzanne Grocott, Councillor Jeff Hanna, 
Councillor Russell Makin, Councillor Dennis Pearce, Councillor 
David Simpson (substitute for Councillor Oonagh Moulton) and 
co-opted member Denis Popovs 
 
 

ALSO PRESENT: Chief Superintendent David Palmer, Claire Cuffie (Anti-Social 
Behaviour Supervisor & temporary CCTV Manager), Sophie Ellis 
(Assistant Director of Business Improvement), Chris Lee 
(Director of Environment and Regeneration) and Julia Regan 
(Head of Democracy Services) 
 

 
1  DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST - SEE NOTE OVERLEAF 

(Agenda Item 1) 
 

None. 
 
2  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 2) 

 
Apologies were received from Councillor Oonagh Moulton (substituted by Councillor 
David Simpson) and from co-opted members Simon Bennett, Peter Connellan and 
Colin Powell. 
 
3  MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON  8 JULY 2014 (Agenda Item 3) 

 
Agreed. 
 
There were no matters arising. 
 
4  POLICING IN MERTON (Agenda Item 4) 

 
Chief Superintendant David Palmer attended on behalf of the Borough Commander. 

He provided a verbal response to written questions that had been sent to the 

Borough Commander in advance of the meeting. The questions and answers are set 

out below. 

Q1) What are his views on how the Controlled Drinking Zone (CDZ) is working and 

what could be done to improve it. 

Response – this is a helpful and effective power, particularly when used in 

conjunction with dispersal zones. Much of its use has been focussed on tackling 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



2 

street drinking in Mitcham. The Police are working with the Council to ensure the 

provision of more permanent signage as the temporary signs have been removed by 

some members of the public.  

Q2) What percentage of crime is committed in each of the three districts and what 

percentage of police manpower is allocated to each? 

Response – 41% Mitcham, 28% Morden, 31% Wimbledon. However the type of 

crime varies in different part of the borough so caution should be exercised in 

comparing crime rates. The question on manpower is addressed in the response to 

question 7 below.. 

Q3) Is most crime committed within 200m of Wimbledon Broadway? Would he like 

to see a town centre police team to focus on that area? 

Response – about 7% of all crime is committed in Wimbledon town centre.. A large 

proportion of this is shoplifting and low level disorder. A “homebeat” of two officers 

has recently been created for the town centre to provide permanence and facilitate 

effective working with local businesses. In an ideal world a town centre police team 

would be helpful but it is not a priority within current resources. 

Q4) Given the need to make significant financial savings, what is the value of each 

of the two largest police stations in the borough? 

Response – the Borough Commander does not have this information. Responsibility 

for buildings lies with the Mayor's Office for Policing And Crime (MOPAC). 

Q5) What is the plan for the buildings that the police have vacated? 

Response – there are no plans to vacate Wimbledon or Mitcham police station. Other 

building s are leased and so, if and when vacated for efficiency reasons, would no 

longer be used by the police. 

Q6) How is the new neighbourhood policing model working? Is it an effective 

model? Please base these responses on evidence and state what evidence has been 

used to support your views. 

Response – there have been some teething problems but performance, as measured 

by the MOPAC indicators, has been exceptionally good. There has been a significant 

influx of new officers to the boroughs, the training of whom plus increased counter 

terrorism activity has lead to a significant reduction in the number of officers on 

normal duties. Police visibility has therefore been lower but will be greater again by 

the end of October, which will hopefully impact positively on public confidence in the 

police. 

Q7) Where and how are officers being deployed across the borough? 

Page 2



3 

Response – there are 332 police officers deployed in Merton. Deployment is demand 

led, with decisions made that balance between the volume, severity and impact of the 

various types of crime on the community. Numbers fluctuate but roughly 125 officers 

work in response teams, working 24/7 to respond to emergency calls and carry out 

other duties as required. About 123 are in local policing teams across the borough, 

patrolling in each ward (1 “homebeat” and one PCSO in each) and dealing with low 

level calls, appointments, problem solving and follow up work. There are 69 CID 

officers who investigate crime. The remainder are in the control room, back office 

functions, senior management and miscellaneous roles. 

Q8) How frequently are officers pulled out of the borough and for what reasons? 

Response – this varies, affecting about 1200 officer days in January-June 2014. 

Reasons include major sporting events, political events, public order and counter 

terrorism activities. 

In response to an additional question, David Palmer said that court attendance by the 

police is directed by the Crown Prosecution Service and cover is arranged as 

appropriate. 

Q9) What enhancements would the Borough Commander like to see made to the 

CCTV system? 

Response – the quality of the image is the most important factor. Location also 

important to focus on crime and traffic accident hotspots. Having good operators in 

the CCTV control room is vital and three of Merton’s have recently receive police 

awards for good work. 

Q10) Please provide an update on the sponsorship offer by the Baitul Futuh Mosque 

to pay the qualification fee for 50 local people for the certificate of policing knowledge 

that new recruits are required to gain prior to starting work with the police. How many 

of those recruits will be deployed in Merton? 

Response – two are currently in training and due to be deployed in Merton.  

In addition, 42 local people have passed the first stage of the selection process for 

recruitment of police constables. The Baitul Futuh Mosque has agreed to support and 

fund two of these and they will be returning to the Borough.  The Mosque has  agreed 

to support other local people in the process if they need assistance. . 

Q11) What support is provided to schools to combat crime in schools and what 

statistics are available regarding the level of crime in schools? 

Response – there are police officers assigned to all secondary schools in the 

borough. The level of crime is modest and usually dealt with by the school. PCSOs 

Page 3



4 

do some work with primary schools and could do more in particular schools if a ward 

councillor indicates that there is a need for this. 

Commission members thanked David Palmer for his responses and asked whether 

written responses to questions could be provided in advance of the meeting in future. 

David Palmer undertook to discuss this with the Borough Commander. 

 
 
5  CCTV REVIEW (Agenda Item 5) 

 
Chris Lee, Director of Environment and Regeneration, introduced the report and drew 
the Commission’s attention to the summary of the findings of the independent review, 
set out in paragraphs 2.4-2.7 of the report. He said that an action plan had been 
developed and the CCTV steering group would oversee its implementation. Most of 
the recommendations would be implemented, except the ones on internal recharging 
as this would not be an appropriate way of working within the council. At its next 
meeting, Cabinet will be asked to approve £460k of capital funding over a two year 
period. 
 
Chris Lee introduced Claire Cuffie, Anti-Social Behaviour Supervisor & temporary 
CCTV Manager. He said there would be a restructure and a permanent manger 
would be appointed. The post would be funded from existing resources. 
 
In discussion, members of the Commission sought reassurance that there would be a 
return on investment made in upgrading the CCTV equipment and asked whether 
there was any evidence on this from other places. Chris Lee said that, although 
definitive cost-benefit data is not available for the service, the graphic user interface 
that would be installed would  provide some performance management information 
on what the images had been used for and the outcome.  
 
Chris Lee added that the service provides a public benefit and is very helpful to the 
police as well as having an impact on crime and the fear of crime. There are fixed 
costs associated with providing the service and there will be opportunities to attract 
income to offset some of this cost. For example, discussion is currently taking place 
with the Wimbledon Business Improvement District regarding the future location and 
funding of cameras. Also, reduction in revenue costs will be achieved through 
cheaper maintenance contracts and reduction in the staffing budget. 
Commission members expressed concern about the weaknesses in management of 
the service that had been identified by the review. Chris Lee said that he accepted 
those findings and had already taken steps to address the issues raised and would 
continue to do so. 
 
Members of the Commission also sought reassurance that the privacy issues 
identified in the review were being addressed. Chris Lee said that these would be 
addressed on the individual cameras that are affected. 
 

Page 4



5 

In summary, Commission members said that although they recognise the 
complexities involved, there is a need to demonstrate value for money and good 
management of the service. The Commission therefore: 
 
RESOLVED that the Commission be kept informed of progress made through a 
report from the CCTV Steering Group that will provide an update on measures taken 
to improve management of the service, identify appropriate performance indicators, 
procure new equipment and review existing maintenance contracts as well as the 
development of a new CCTV strategy. Report to be received at Commission meeting 
on 25 March 2015. The Commission further requested the opportunity to comment on 
the CCTV policy when it has been revised. 
 
 
5a   CCTV REPORT - EXEMPT APPENDICES (Agenda Item 5a)  

 
6  CUSTOMER CONTACT PROGRAMME UPDATE (Agenda Item 6) 

 
Sophie Ellis, Assistant Director of Business Improvement, introduced the report, 
highlighting the progress that had been made in respect of the competitive dialogue 
tendering process and the detailed specification setting out outcomes sought in 
respect of customers and the council. 
 
Sophie Ellis provided additional information and clarification in response to questions: 
 
•           Planet Press is a software system to streamline process for mass mailing 
•           retention of information and data will be determined by the requirements of 

the Data Protection Act and advice from the council’s Information 
Governance Team 

•           the bidders will be asked to work out how existing data will be transferred and 
to ensure that there are accurate master datasets of customers and 
addresses 

•           information about all other projects currently underway has been shared with 
the bidders 

•           provision has been made for break clauses and penalties if the contractor 
fails to meet service standards or timescales 

 
Members of the Commission said they were pleased with progress made and that 
they welcomed the cautious approach taken to this ambitious programme. The 
Commission will receive a further update in March 2015. 
 
 
 
7  PROPOSAL FOR A NEW APPROACH TO THE APPOINTMENT OF CO-

OPTED MEMBERS (Agenda Item 7) 
 

The Chair introduced the proposals for a formal process for the appointment of non 
voting co-opted members, drawing on procedures that the Healthier Communities 
and Older people Overview and Scrutiny Panel has recently put in place.  
 

Page 5



6 

The Vice Chair (who is the Chair of the Healthier Communities Panel) said that the 
Panel wanted to attract co-opted members from across the community through an 
open and transparent recruitment process. He said that a similar approach had been 
used by the Standards Committee and this had resulted in co-opted members who 
had made an effective contribution to the committee. Julia Regan, Head of 
Democracy Services, added that the proposed approach could be adopted flexibly to 
meet the specific individual needs of the Commission and the three Panels. 
 
The Commission RESOLVED to adopt the proposed approach and recommended 
that appointments be made for a 12 month period and that positions be advertised in 
My Merton. 
 
8  FINANCIAL MONITORING TASK GROUP - NOTE OF MEETING ON 22 

JULY 2014 (Agenda Item 8) 
 

The Commission noted the minutes of the task group meeting. 
 
9  OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY TRAINING PROGRAMME 2014-15 (Agenda 

Item 9) 
 

RESOLVED: to agree the training programme set out in paragraph 2.1 of the report. 
 
10  WORK PROGRAMME 2014/15 (Agenda Item 10) 

 
RESOLVED: to agree the work programme, with the addition of an update on CCTV 
to the Commission’s meeting on 25 March 2015. 
 

Page 6



 

Overview & Scrutiny Commission 

Date: 25 November 2014 

Agenda item:  

Subject: Merton’s Welfare Reform Action Plan 2013/14 – 
Progress Update (January-July 2014) 

Lead officers: 

• Simon Williams – Director, Community and Housing 

• Steve Langley – Head of Housing Needs and Strategy 

• David Keppler – Head of Revenues and Benefits 

 

Lead members:  

• Councillor Mark Allison – Cabinet member for Finance 

 

Contact officer: Steve Langley – Head of Housing Needs and Strategy 

Recommendations:  
A. The Commission is requested to discuss and comment on the report. 

 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The report aims to provide OSC with an update on the progress that has 

been made by Merton’s Welfare Reform and Financial Resilience Group 
and partners during January-July 2014 in delivering Merton’s Welfare 
Reform Action Plan 2013/14 (Appendix 1). Where updated figures have 
been made available during the drafting of this report which fall outside of 
this monitoring period, these have been included.  

 
1.2 OSC are also asked to note the development of a Financial Resilience 

Action Plan which will run alongside and complement the Welfare Reform 
Action Plan 2013/14 (Appendix 2). 
 

1.3 The next progress report from the Merton Welfare Reform and Financial 
Resilience Group will be published in February 2015 and will cover the 
period August 2014 - January 2015.  

 
2. BACKGROUND AND UPDATE (JANUARY – JULY 2014) 
 
2.1      The Welfare Reform Act 2012 is one of the largest policy changes to be 

 introduced by the Government. The Act has been designed to deliver  

Agenda Item 4

Page 7



 £18 billion savings from the welfare budget as announced in the budget 
 and spending review of 2010.  
 

2.2      Another aim of welfare reform is to simplify a very complex array of 
 benefits to people who are unemployed, disabled, unable to work, have 
 childcare responsibilities or who are on low incomes. 
 

2.3  The main changes to welfare benefits, including their impacts on Merton to 
date and key considerations for the next 6-12 months are outlined in the 
table below:   

 

Welfare reform and impact on Merton 
Key considerations for the next 6-12 
months 

A benefits cap for out of work 
households – introduced on 15 July 
2013 in Merton, the benefits cap puts a 
cap on the total benefits to which an out 
of work individual or couple is entitled. 
Approximately 186 households have 
been affected by the cap in Merton and 
housing benefit has been reduced by 
approximately £14,000 per week in total 
for those affected. This is not a fixed 
number as new households will become 
affected following a change in their 
circumstances i.e. loss of employment 
 

• Monitor Discretionary Housing 
Benefit payments to affected 
households. 

• Continue to work with new and 
existing families affected by the cap. 

• Monitor homelessness episodes as 
direct consequence of the benefits 
cap. 

• Continue to monitor effectiveness of 
2 x Temporary housing options 
advisers and consider the ongoing 
requirement for these roles in the 
delivery of UC and associated 
welfare reform changes. 

Introduction of Universal Credit – 
Universal Credit for working age single 
claimants will be rolled out nationally 
from February 2015. Universal credit will 
be a single benefit to be paid on a 
monthly basis. UC replaces Income 
Support, income-based Job Seekers 
Allowance (JSA), income-related 
Employment and Support Allowance 
(ESA), Housing Benefit, Council Tax 
Credit and Working Tax Credit (WTC). 

 

• Understand the role of the Council in 
the delivery of UC i.e. supporting 
people in accessing UC and 
supporting work incentives. 

• Understand what risks exist to 
vulnerable residents who do not 
have access to computers and who 
cannot use one. 

• Understand HR issues relating to 
introduction of UC for council 
employees. 

• Understand financial implications in 
the delivery of UC. 

• Engage with private landlords and 
lettings agents regarding the roll out 
of UC. 

• Consider information event and 
training to stakeholders on the roll 
out of UC. 

Page 8



Welfare reform and impact on Merton 
Key considerations for the next 6-12 
months 

• Understand the financial implications 
for the Council for those households 
living in temporary accommodation 
provided under the homeless 
legislation. 

Penalties for under-occupancy - 
changes to Housing Benefit require 
social sector housing to have size 
criteria applied, with any working age 
household deemed to be under 
occupying their home to have part of 
their Housing Benefit removed. As of 1 
August 2014, 721 households are 
known to be affected by the under-
occupation penalty. 

 

• Continue to work with registered 
providers to deliver opportunities for 
tenants wishing to downsize. 

• Continue to work with registered 
providers to prevent homelessness 
from social housing tenants. 

• Monitor Discretionary Housing 
Benefit payments to social housing 
tenants affected by under occupation 
rules. 

• Identify those cases exempt from 
under occupation rules. 

Localisation of the Social Fund - the 
Act abolished the social fund which 
comprised “last resort” benefits such as 
crisis loans and replaced it with a non-
ring fenced grant which is paid directly 
to the council. Merton Council’s Welfare 
Assistance Scheme was launched in 
April 2013. To date the number of 
applications received continues to be 
below the anticipated numbers the DWP 
indicated would be received (this is the 
same across all London). 

 

Following a review of Merton’s Local 
Welfare Assistance Scheme, it is 
proposed the following actions are taken 
forward: 

• CMT to agree if the scheme will 
continue in 2015/16 as the 
Department of Work and Pensions 
have stopped the funding  

• Offer new essential electrical 
household items instead of re-
conditioned (stocks of re-conditioned 
items are regularly low or out of 
stock. Ordering new will offer better 
quality stock which will last longer in 
the long term). 

• Increase maximum amount of award 
for essential household items to 
£1000 (this will allow for the 
increased cost of new essential 
electrical household items). 

• Offer full week rate regardless of 
next payment of benefit. 

• Offer multiple weeks to cover 
emergency where DWP confirm no 
benefit or hardship will be paid for 
that number of weeks, (subject to a 
maximum).  

Page 9



Welfare reform and impact on Merton 
Key considerations for the next 6-12 
months 

• Increase take up of the scheme, 
promote LWSS to internal staff.  

• Offer essential household items as a 
grant instead of a loan. 

• Make another donation to the 
Wimbledon Food Bank. 

• Move current resources for 
answering calls. All telephone calls 
to go directly to the LWSS decision 
making team to avoid duplication of 
work. 

Changes to Disability Living 
Allowance - From 8 April 2013 a new 
benefit, Personal Independence 
Payment (PIP) replaced Disability Living 
Allowance (DLA) for disabled people 
aged 16-64 in Merton.  

 

• Support new PIP claims through 
initial appointment to complete 
telephone application and follow up 
appointment to help complete more 
detailed secondary form.  

• Provide telephone support for PIP 
applicants to prepare for medical 
assessment (ATOS). 

• Put in place referral system with CAB 
for PIP appeals. 

• Strengthen working relationship with 
Social Services and NHS staff to 
support applicants through the 
process. 

• Monitor and track data on PIP 
decisions. 

• Fund a six month fixed term contract 
member of staff in CAB to support 
claimants through new and renewal 
applications. 

Changes to the Independent Living 
Fund - The government has taken the 
decision to close the Independent Living 
Fund (ILF) on 30 June 2015 and transfer 
responsibility for meeting the eligible 
care and support needs of current ILF 
users to local authorities in line with their 
statutory responsibilities. Currently 2.5% 
of Merton residents (40) claiming 
Disability Living Allowance also receive 
support through the ILF.  
 

• The council and partners will 
continue to stay abreast of 
developments regarding the ILF and 
will work closely with local groups to 
ensure any changes affecting 
disabled people in Merton are 
understood and solutions identified 
where appropriate.  

 

Page 10



2.4 Merton’s Welfare Reform Action Plan 2013/14 at Appendix 1 provides a 
fuller update on the actions partners are taking to support residents 
affected by welfare reform changes.  

2.5 The Action Plan is delivered and monitored by Merton’s Welfare Reform 
and Financial Resilience Group, a cross-council officer group chaired by 
the Director of Community and Housing. Over the last year the group has 
worked closely with the relevant council departments and partner 
organisations to meet a number of aims, including:  

• Ensuring that Members and Senior Officers are made aware of the welfare 
reforms and their implications for residents, the Council and its partners; 

 

• Ensuring that all advice agencies are fully aware of the welfare reforms, 
the council’s response and how partnership arrangements need to 
develop and change when necessary; 
 

• Monitoring the impact of the Benefits Cap and working closely with 
Benefits/Housing Needs staff and partners to ensure residents are 
provided with the support they need (with a particular focus on supporting 
our most vulnerable clients);  
 

• Monitoring the impact of the changeover from Disability Living Allowance 
to Personalised Independence Payment and ensuring clients are 
supported through the new process by the Welfare Benefits Team and 
service provides in the community and voluntary sector (e.g. CAB) where 
appropriate; 

 

• Monitoring the impact of changes to Housing Benefit and under-
occupancy and working closely with registered providers who have 
developed their own plans in response to welfare reform; 
 

• Monitoring the impact of the Welfare Assistance Scheme, which replaced 
Crisis & Support Grants from April 2013, and ensuring the new scheme is 
well signposted to clients/referring organisations and is aligned with other 
crisis-intervention service providers such as The Vine Project and food 
banks;  
 

• Working closely with other multi-agency groups (e.g. Merton Child and 
Family Poverty Task Group, Health and Wellbeing Board) to ensure key 
stakeholders are sighted on the work of the group and where possible 
working together to deliver outcomes for shared client groups;  

 

• Working more closely with Job Centre Plus to help people into 
employment. Officers from Housing Benefits and Housing Needs continue 
to work with colleagues from Job Centre Plus to share approaches and 
deliver a joined up process aimed at assisting customers into work;  

Page 11



 
3. LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
3.1 The Welfare Reform Act sets out the legislative framework for these 
 changes.  
 
4. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 

IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The reforms have potential implications in these areas and continued 

monitoring will take place   
 
5. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 None for the purposes of this report  
 
6. RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1  Merton’s Welfare Reform Group will be working closely with Public Health 

colleagues over the next few months to conduct a Health Impact 
Assessment (HIA) to fully assess potential health impacts on Merton 
residents precipitated by the changes to welfare benefits.  

 
7. APPENDICES – the following documents are to be published with 

this report and form part of the report 
 

• Appendix 1 – Merton’s Welfare Reform Action Plan 2013/14 – 
Progress update (January – July 2014) 

• Appendix 2 – Merton’s Financial Resilience Action Plan 2014/15 
 
 

Page 12



Merton Welfare Reform Action Plan – Progress Update (January-July 2014) 

7 

 

Merton Welfare Reform Action Plan 2013/14 
Update January – July 2014 

 

 
 
 

P
age 13



Merton Welfare Reform Action Plan – Progress Update (January-July 2014) 

8 

 

 
REFORM: Total benefit income cap 

 

The Act empowers the Government to put a cap on the total benefits to which an individual or couple is entitled. The cap was introduced in Merton from 15 July 2013 and 

is set at a working household’s average net earnings; this is currently expected to be £26k a year (a maximum of £500 per week) for lone parents and couples with or 

without children and around £18k per annum (a maximum of £350 per week) for single people without children or whose children for whom they have responsibility do 

not live with them. The cap will apply to the combined income from out of work benefits, Housing Benefit (HB), Child Benefit (CB) and Child Tax Credit (CTC) and other 

benefits such as carers allowance and maternity allowance. 

 

Revenues & Benefits  

• On the 27
th

 of June 2014 Merton had 186 capped households. The benefit cap came into effect on the 15th July 2013. New Households continue to be affected by the 

cap although these remain relatively low.  

 

Housing 

• All of the households capped at July 2013 have been contacted at their address with an offer of support.  

• We have made 34 home visits in the period. 

• We continue to work closely with the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) and between 01 January and 30
th

 of June 147 interviews were undertaken with DWP 

representatives at the civic centre. 

• 46 cases have been closed due to an exemption from the cap through finding work since January 2014. 

• 10 households have become exempt due to a claim for Disability Living Allowance/Personalised Independence Payment/Employment and Support Allowance. 

• Housing staff are visiting households with an emphasis on debt advice, homelessness prevention, helping tenants to maximise their income and looking into their 

personal finances.  

• The main cause of homelessness is now the end of Assured  Shorthold letting. This may be because private sector Landlords no longer wish to let their homes to 

benefit recipients.  Some private landlords and lettings agents are withdrawing from letting to benefit recipients. Nationally the termination of Assured Short hold 

Tenancies continues to be the leading cause of homelessness.  

 

 

Action taken to mitigate reform Performance measure 
Lead 

agency/officer 
Progress update (January-July 2014) 

Welfare Reform group to facilitate joint 

working across council departments 

registered providers and other affected 

organisations.  

 

Actions and progress 

monitored through WRG 

meetings. 

Simon 

Williams (LBM) 

The Welfare Reform Group has met regularly. Updates have gone to CMT and a 

progress update went to LSG on 1 September 2014. Started to share update 

reports with thematic subgroups. 

Director of Commonside Development Trust invited to sit on Merton WRG.  

P
age 14



Merton Welfare Reform Action Plan – Progress Update (January-July 2014) 

9 

 

Action taken to mitigate reform Performance measure 
Lead 

agency/officer 
Progress update (January-July 2014) 

Engage with voluntary and community 

sector partners to ensure consistent 

approach to advice and help is available 

for Merton Residents  

 

David Keppler 

(LBM) 

Merton and Lambeth CAB sits on the Welfare Reform Group and members of 

the group frequently provide updates to voluntary and community sector lead 

contacts.  

Subject to DWP provisions, share data 

with CSF/ASCH colleagues to ensure a 

more pro-active case management 

approach to managing impact of cap on 

critical groups. 

 

David Keppler 

(LBM) 

Information continues to be shared with colleagues. 

Hold information/awareness raising 

event(s) for tenants affected by cap, and 

advice advice/support agencies working 

with those affected. 

 

David Keppler, 

Steve Langley 

(LBM) 

Training and information sessions have been held on the welfare reform 

changes with Merton staff, individual departments, voluntary sector and advice 

workers, residents and faith groups.  

Housing Options Officers to provide 

targeted support to affected residents.  

 

No. of home visits  Steve Langley, 

David Keppler 

(LBM) 

Two officers within housing are dedicated to visiting affected households in the 

private rented sector. 231 home visits have been undertaken (34 in this period) 

and officers continue to provide detailed case work support to those 

households affected by the cap, including the development of agreed support 

plans between the officer and the household.  

 

Continue to use homelessness protection 

grant to minimise episodes of 

homelessness. 

 

No. of residents presenting 

as homeless  

Steve Langley 

(LBM) 

Whilst the council continues to maintain its position of having the lowest 

number of households in temporary accommodation in London, the fact that 

homelessness episodes from private sector tenants living in Assured Shorthold 

Tenancies is increasing has led to an increased demand for temporary 

accommodation and housing services. 

 

Signpost clients affected to Job Centre 

Plus. 

No. of client s signposted to 

Jobcentre plus. 

David Keppler, 

Steve Langley 

(LBM) 

Housing officers meet with the DWP twice weekly and a DWP officer regularly 

attends the civic centre to meet households seeking employment 

opportunities. Seeking employment will be a key action in households support 

plans. 46 households have been exempted from the cap due to being in work. 

 

 

P
age 15



Merton Welfare Reform Action Plan – Progress Update (January-July 2014) 

10 

 

 
REFORM: Introduction of Universal Credit 

 

Universal Credit will be a single payment covering state benefits and housing costs. It is meant to encourage work and make the benefits system easier to understand and 

access. It is likely that UC will now be rolled out in Merton in early 2015.  

Revenues & Benefits 

• The ambitions for the national roll out of Universal Credit have been toned down and we can expect Universal Credit to be rolled out in Merton in some format from in 

early 2015. 

• At this stage it is still not clear how the roll out of Universal Credit will implemented – it may be phased implementation throughout the year dependant on household 

make-up, the outcome and learning from the ongoing pilots will dictate this.  

• The Council will be required to deliver a support framework to those claimants who cannot access Universal Credit on-line. This new service will look to support 

claimants to access Universal Credit and maintain and manage their ongoing claim. The service is likely to be a multi agency approach to include CAB, Job Centre Plus 

and the Council and will also look to support and help residents into work.  

• Initial discussions with the CAB, Job Centre Plus and neighbouring boroughs have commenced to design this new service. 

• The service will be required to be in place by the time Universal Credit is rolled out for Merton Residents. 

• The majority of existing housing benefits claims are expected to be transferred over to Universal Credit by 2017. 

• The Council will retain a small number of housing benefit claims. 

 

Housing 

• On 1
st

 April 2014 benefits were upgraded. This rise was capped at 1%, however the local housing allowance was allowed to increase above this.  

• Landlords  are likely to be concerned about the impact of universal credit  particularly as the London pilots have seen deductions from Local Housing Allowance 

payments to cap a households  overall benefits package. The Knock on consequences is that Landlords, particularly those who specialise in letting to tenants in receipt 

of housing benefit, could face difficulties, if a tenant struggles to manage their monthly incomes. Some Landlords may decide to cease letting their properties to 

households in receipt of housing benefit. Across London the termination of Assured Shorthold Tenancies are now the leading cause of homelessness, as opposed to 

eviction by family and friends.  

 

CSF 

• Feedback from practitioners working in the community indicate that there has been an increase in the number of general requests for support regarding debt advice, 

information about benefit changes, support as people move from Income Support to Job seekers Allowance as well as concerns about the benefit cap. Practitioners are 

supporting families to move into employment as a solution to minimising the impact of welfare changes. Support for/enquires about  universal credit do not appear to 

be as significant as the support for/enquiries about changes to the benefit cap and under occupancy 

 

 
 

P
age 16



Merton Welfare Reform Action Plan – Progress Update (January-July 2014) 

11 

 

Action taken to mitigate reform Performance measure 
Lead 

agency/officer 
Progress update (January – July 2014) 

Map Voluntary Sector and identify those 

agencies best placed to help/signpost 

families.  

Work with Credit Unions to promote 

services more widely to residents.  

Actions and progress 

monitored through WRG 

meetings.  

Merton 

Welfare 

Reform Group 

 

Draft list drawn up as part of the Policy Network Financial Resilience (FR) 

project. Financial Resilience Action Plan includes actions to promote roll out of 

new CU services within the borough.  

Case work with families to improve 

employment opportunities.  

No. of home visits Enhanced 

Housing 

Options Officer 

Housing Officers continue to meet with the DWP twice weekly and a DWP 

officer regularly attends the civic centre to meet households seeking 

employment opportunities. Seeking employment is a key action in 

households support plans. 46 households have been exempted from the cap 

due to being in work. 

 

 

P
age 17



Merton Welfare Reform Action Plan – Progress Update (January-July 2014) 

12 

 

 
REFORM: Changes to Housing Benefit – under-occupancy 

 

Since April 2013 claimants who live in the social rented sector have had their housing benefit reduced by 14% if they have an empty bedroom and 25% if they have two or 

more empty bedrooms.  

Revenues & Benefits 

• As of 1 August 2014, the total number of capped households in the borough stood at 721. Approximately 55% of households affected by the under occupancy penalty 

are tenants with Circle Housing Merton Priory.  

 

Housing 

• There have been no homeless applications made to the Council as a direct result of the under occupation rules . Housing applications from housing association tenants 

wishing to downsize have reduced with 12 applications being received from Jan 2014 until June 2014. This is a reduction from April to December 2013 when 29 

applications were received.  

 

 
 

Action taken to mitigate reform Performance measure 
Lead 

agency/officer 
Progress update (January – July 2014) 

Meet with Registered Providers to 

monitor and propose solutions to issues 

arising from under-occupancy. 

Steve Langley LBM officers continue to work closely with registered providers across the 

borough to monitor the impact of the new under-occupancy rules. Figures from 

Merton Priory Homes, Merton’s largest RP, demonstrates that the majority of 

residents affected by the under-occupancy rules are partially or fully making up 

the shortfall in their benefit payments.  

 

Share data with departments/partner 

agencies to ensure a more pro-active case 

management approach to managing 

impact of cap on critical group.  

David Keppler, 

Steve Langley 

Data continues to be shared with departments and partners to facilitate a more 

pro-active approach.   

Identify foster carers in social housing 

potentially affected by changes.  

Allison Jones 

Identify carers potentially affected by 

changes. 

Actions and progress 

monitored through WRG 

meetings. 

Rahat Ahmed-

Mann 

Following policy changes  issued in late 2013 by DWP, foster carers, families 

with disabled children and service personnel are now exempt from under-

occupancy rules.  

 

 

P
age 18



Merton Welfare Reform Action Plan – Progress Update (January-July 2014) 

13 

 

 
REFORM: Localisation of the Social Fund (Community Care Grants and Crisis Loans) 

 

Under new arrangements, Crisis Loans and Community Care Grants ceased in April 2013 and the Council now administers support through a new Welfare Support Scheme.  

Revenues & Benefits 

• During the period April – October 2014, £35,754 was awarded to 227 applicants to the Social Fund. 67 Applicants were refused due to not meeting the criteria of the 

fund. Compared to the same period in 2013, the amount of grant awarded has increased by £23,169.  

• The Local Welfare Support scheme was implemented in April 2013 and the vast majority of emergency payments are made via text messaging allowing the claimant to 

receive money from their local Post Office. 

• Referrals to the Food Bank have been made to some claimants that have not met the qualifying criteria. A one off payment of £10,000 has been made to the 

Wimbledon Food Bank to enable the group to support residents seeking help.  

 

 

Action taken to mitigate reform Performance measure 
Lead 

agency/officer 
Progress update (January – July 2014) 

Map crisis intervention providers. Local WAS PI Merton 

Welfare 

Reform Group 

Draft list drawn up as part of the Policy Network Financial Resilience (FR) 

project. 

 

Work closely with the Vine Project and 

similar providers.  

Local WAS PI David Keppler The Vine Project continues to provide all reconditioned and new appliances and 

all household goods to applicants. 

 

 

P
age 19



Merton Welfare Reform Action Plan – Progress Update (January-July 2014) 

14 

 

APPENDIX 2: DRAFT Merton Financial Resilience Action Plan  
 

OBJECTIVE 1:  Improving data and information sharing  

 

Objective Stakeholders ACTION Next steps 

(1) Ensure all Merton service 
providers are sighted on 
financial resilience need in the 
borough 

All service providers (1.1) Merton Welfare Reform Group to undertake 
further analysis of financial exclusion and capability 
need in Merton.  

� WR Group to invite 
Experian rep to next 
meeting to discuss project 
scope.  

(2) Partners to have access to 
regularly updated information 
on main Merton 
organisations/groups 
providing financial advice and 
support to residents 

All service providers 
who refer clients to 
financial 
advice/support 
providers 

(2.1) Develop quarterly ‘Signposting E-Bulletin’ to 
provide organisations that regularly refer clients to 
financial advice/support providers with regularly 
updated contact and service details for those 
providers.   

� Carers Support Merton to 
lead on developing bulletin 
with support from WR 
Group.  

(3) Develop and maintain a 
list of organisations and CVOs 
providing/signposting to 
financial advice and support 
services in Merton 

All service providers (3.1) Continue to develop list of organisations 
contained in draft needs and service mapping.  

� WR Group to review list at 
next meeting and make 
amendments as 
appropriate.  

� WR Group to review 
existing financial 
advice/support web pages 
and amend where 
appropriate.  

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 20



Merton Welfare Reform Action Plan – Progress Update (January-July 2014) 

15 

 

 

OBJECTIVE 2: Improving access to affordable credit 

 

Objective Stakeholders ACTION Next steps 

Merton Council, 
CSMCU 

(1.1) Encourage CU representation on Merton 
Welfare Reform & Financial Inclusion Working Group 
to ensure better joint working between council and 
CU.  

 

� Invite Chair of CSMCU to 
next Merton WRG meeting 
in July 2014.  

Merton Partnership, 
CSMCU 

(1.2) Ensure council and partner organisations are 
sighted on CU work programme, products and 
services and that these are effectively promoted 
through MP org communication channels where 
possible. 

 

� CSMCU to provide 
quarterly updates on work 
programme and services to 
Merton WRG for wider 
circulation to MP orgs and 
other partners. First update 
July 2014.  

 

Merton Partnership, 
Merton & Lambeth 
Citizens Advice 
Bureau 

(1.3) Identify opportunities for CU expansion/outreach 
to areas with high levels of debt dependency. 

 

� MP orgs to identify 
outreach opportunities for 
CSMCU. 

� Merton WRG to undertake 
further comprehensive debt 
mapping exercise with 
M&LCAB to enable CU to 
effectively target its 
outreach services.  

  

(1) Support the launch and 
development of the Croydon, 
Sutton & Merton Credit Union 
to provide Merton residents 
with an affordable credit 
alternative to microfinance 
providers and long-term credit 
card borrowing 

 

Merton Council 
(Future Merton), 
Merton Chamber of 

(1.4) Work with CU and Merton Chamber of 
Commerce to consider the development of an 
enterprise loan scheme to provide finance to small 

� Merton COC and CSMCU 
to discuss in more detail 
with particular reference to 

P
age 21



Merton Welfare Reform Action Plan – Progress Update (January-July 2014) 

16 

 

Objective Stakeholders ACTION Next steps 

Commerce, CSMCU businesses who would not normally be able to raise 
funds for expansion. 

 

best practice examples in 
Leeds  and Glasgow.  

 (1.5) Consider the longer-term development of a 
Community Development Finance Institution or 
Community Banking Partnership to provide residents 
and SMEs with affordable loan products and financial 
advice under one roof. 

� CSMCU already 
considering option to 
develop a CDF. To include 
further detail in first update 
to WRG/MPEB for partner 
discussion.  

 

 

OBJECTIVE 3: Improving access to debt and money advice 

 

Objective Stakeholders ACTION Next steps 

(1) Merton’s main advice and 
information organisations 
working together to provide a 
unified, more effective service 
to residents requiring financial 
advice and guidance 

 

MLCAB, MVSC, 
Carers Support 
Merton, Age UK, 
Merton Council 
(Revenues & 
Benefits), South 
West London Law 
Centre 

(1.1) Support the current Merton Advice Forum bid to 
the Big Lottery Advice Services Transition Fund If 
successful, the bid will see: 

• A YMCA outreach adviser working with young 
people; 

• A SWLLC outreach adviser working in health 
settings; 

• A MLCAB outreach adviser working in health 
settings; 

• A Merton Advice brand being created and referral 
arrangements put in place; 

• Training etc being made a available to advisers 

� Request further update on 
bid from Merton Advice 
Forum with a view to 
opening up discussion to a 
wider group of stakeholders 
including health, education, 
community and voluntary 
sector partners.   

P
age 22



Merton Welfare Reform Action Plan – Progress Update (January-July 2014) 

17 

 

Objective Stakeholders ACTION Next steps 

and the general public; 

• The Merton Advice Forum continuing. 

 

Merton Council 
(Customer Services, 
Children’s Centres), 
Merton & Lambeth 
CAB 

(2.1) Develop a project to provide basic financial 
management and debt counselling training to staff 
working in the Council's customer service points and 
other front line staff. 

 

 

� Develop draft training 
programme.  

� Identify sources of funding 
to support roll out. 

Merton Council, 
Toynbee Hall 

(2.2) Develop an accessible toolkit that can be used 
by frontline staff to enable them to confidently raise 
money matter issues with their clients, detect early 
warning signs and refer or signpost clients to 
appropriate financial literacy and capability support 
services. 

 

� With reference to best 
practice examples in Barnet 
and Tower Hamlets, 
develop toolkit with support 
of Toynbee Hall 

(2) Front-line staff in Council 
customer service roles and in 
Children’s Centres able to 
provide timely financial advice 
and signposting to residents 

 

Merton Council 
(Revenues & 
Benefits, Future 
Merton), M&LCAB, 
MVSC 

(2.3) Maintain an online resource bank of financial 
inclusion and money management tools and 
information on local support services on the Council’s 
website.  

 

 

 

� Develop draft database of 
service providers with 
M&LCAB and MVSC.  

(3) Develop volunteer 
capacity to deliver 
advice/guidance in community 
settings 

Merton & Lambeth 
CAB, Merton 
Council (Library 
Service) 

(3.1) Develop training programme for 6-10 community 
based Advice Guides (similar to Library volunteers).  

 

� M&LCAB to share 
evaluation of similar 
scheme in Lambeth (One 
Lambeth Advice) and to 
work with WRG to develop 

P
age 23



Merton Welfare Reform Action Plan – Progress Update (January-July 2014) 

18 

 

Objective Stakeholders ACTION Next steps 

 business case for training 
programme.  

 

OBJECTIVE 4: Promoting Financial literacy 

 

Objective Stakeholders ACTION Next steps 

(1) Ensure all pupils at KS3-4 
have access to financial 
literacy resources 

Merton Schools, 
MAS, PFEG 

(1.1) Work with the Personal Finance Education 
Group and the Money Advice Service to develop 
appropriate resources for Merton schools.  

� Merton WRG to develop 
commissioning brief with 
Merton Schools for FL 
resources and identify 
potential sources of funding 
for roll out.  

 

(2) Promote financial advice 
and support services to 
parents in deprived areas of 
the borough 

Commonside Trust, 
Merton Council, 
CAB, CIL, SWLLC 

(2.1) Commonside Trust to deliver ‘Money Matters’ 
advice fayres in school setting across the borough.  

� Commonside Trust to 
develop project scope and 
bring to September/October 
WR Group meeting.  

�  

(3) Ensure all Merton staff 
have access to high quality 
personal financial literacy 
training and resources 

 

MAS, Merton 
Council 

(3.1) Working with the Money Advice Service to 
deliver financial capability training for all council staff. 

 

� Merton WRG/Learning & 
Development Team to 
develop training 
programme with MAS.  

 

P
age 24



Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Commission  

Date: 25 November 2014 

Wards:  All 

Subject:  Domestic Violence needs assessment and way forward 

Lead officer:  Chris Lee 

Lead member: Cllr Maxi Martin; Cllr Edith Macauley 

Contact officer: Chris Lee, Director of Environment & Regeneration/ Yvette Stanley , 
Director of Children Schools and Families   

Recommendations:  

A. That Members discuss the findings of the Domestic Violence Strategic Needs 
Assessment and make comments as they wish. 

 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. To present the findings of the domestic violence strategic needs assessment 
and note Merton’s response to the specific recommendations arising from 
the needs assessment. 

 

2 DETAILS 

2.1. The Council has a number of statutory duties relating to tackling and 
effectively responding to domestic abuse and violence against women and 
girls, duties which are delivered across a number of departments and in 
partnership with a range of partners.  
 

2.2. At a partnership level the overarching strategy has been led by the Safer 
Merton Partnership who have the lead on prevention, prosecution, 
overseeing and performance managing the [Multi Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference ]  MARAC and commissioning any Domestic Homicide Reviews 
agreed by the partnership including reporting to the Home Office on such 
matters. The Merton Safeguarding Children Board ] MSCB has statutory 
oversight of a range of related issues including child sexual exploitation, girls 
and gangs and the safeguarding aspects of FGM [ female genital mutilation]. 
The Health and Well Being Board also have  an interest  due to their 
leadership of our overall Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 

2.3. In terms of service responses, CSF department provides a broad range of 
services from safeguarding and child protection to work with schools around 
young peoples’ wellbeing which prevent or respond to domestic violence and 
violence against women and girls.  Community and Housing commission our 
local Refuges and have a role in relation to vulnerable adults who 
experience abuse including domestic violence. Safer Merton have 
historically led the strategic needs analysis process, commission the IDVA 

Agenda Item 5

Page 25



Service, administer the MARAC, oversee any DHR process and support the 
overall strategic response including  governance of the strategy overall and 
supporting work groups  such as the practitioners forum. 

 

2.4. The Director of E&R is currently finalising  proposals to locate specific areas 
of Safer Merton’s work into other services/departments as part of the 
transformation plans  and the impact of these changes will need to be built 
into our future arrangements. An update will be provided to the meeting 
verbally. 

 

2.5. Given the need to have an up to date strategy and response to DV 
encompassing the various partnerships and roles of specific service 
departments the Director of E&R and Director of CSF agreed that an up to 
date needs assessments should be commissioned and officers from both 
service departments and the Public Health Team specified and 
commissioned a new needs assessment. The assessment was undertaken 
by Cordis Bright during spring and summer 2014 and they have now 
presented their findings to workshop involving key partners. The next section 
of the report summarises their key findings and recommendations 

 

3 KEY FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1 Domestic violence has been highlighted by the Coalition Government and by 
the Mayor of London as an area that increasingly demands focus and 
attention from a multi- agency partnership approach. It is also a priority issue 
for the council and our Health and Wellbeing Board, Safeguarding Children’s 
Board and the Safer Merton partnership (the crime and disorder 
partnership).   

 
3.2 Domestic abuse is in particular a key feature of the work of the CSF 

departments as DV is one of the “toxic trio” featuring in the majority (60%+) 
of child protection cases and we have strong a track record of working with 
partners tackling domestic violence within families. However, in relationships 
where children are not present there are limited identified resources to 
support the victims of abuse and the review has established that the 
partnership’s response to this small but important group is limited and less 
coherent than the current response to families. 

 
3.3 The review also noted that Merton’s population has been changing rapidly 

over time. 35% of our adult population are BME but 55% of our child 
population are BME. The fastest growing populations are the overall Asian 
population, which grew by 6% between 2000 and 2011, specifically those 
with Pakistani ethnicity which increased by 1.3% and Other Asian ethnicity 
which increased by 4.4%. The overall Black population grew by 3% over the 
same time period, with the Black African population growing by 1.8% any 
future service commissioning needs to respond to these changing profiles. 

 
3.4  The review also looked at services available to victims of domestic abuse 

that are not commissioned directly by the council and are either funded by 

Page 26



external agencies (HO and LGA) or are direct provision from the voluntary 
sector.  

 

3.5 The full needs assessment covers some 170 pages but is available through 
the attached link. The Executive Summary is attached as appendix 1 and 
this report focuses on the 6 specific recommendations arising from the 
review. 

 
Recommendation 1 

 
Agree a common definition for domestic violence and abuse, which should be 
applied across all future strategic and operational activity in the borough 

 
Response 

 
That Merton in future has a Violence  Against  Women and Girl’s Strategy 
incorporating domestic violence but encompassing: 

 
Domestic Violence (including men, same sex relationships, and people with and 
without children) 

Rape and Sexual Violence 
Female Genital Mutilation 
Forced Marriage 
Crimes in the name of “honour” 
Sexual Harassment 
Stalking 
Trafficking 
Prostitution and Sexual Exploitation of adults 
Children and Young People at risk of Sexual exploitation 
 
We will need to identify lead agencies and officers for each strand. 
 
 

Recommendation 2 
 

Put in place strong leadership and governance arrangements surrounding the 
Domestic Violence, Abuse and Violence Against Women and Girls agenda 

 
With this in mind the Director CSF has agreed to be the CMT lead and to chair a new 
governance board. As part of the consultation on future arrangements for Safer Merton 
functions CMT will need to consider how the strategic and partnership support for this 
area is supported and to have clarity re each department’s contributions. 
 
Draft structures and terms of reference for the board are attached as appendices 2 and 
3 
 
Recommendations 3 and 5 
The governance arrangements will oversee the development of an outcome-
focussed strategy, to be developed and delivered by a partnership group.  
Clarify and implement strong performance management arrangements  

Page 27



 
Response 

 
It is recommended that the new board oversees the development of a performance 
framework as part of its new role. 

 
Recommendation 4 
Develop an outcome focussed evidence-led commissioning plan to ensure the 
strategy is delivered 
 
Response 
The board will be supported by a working group of commissioners from PH, CSF, C&H 
and partners  whose task will be to ensure we have a joined up commissioning 
response to this agenda. 
 

 
Recommendation 6 
Clarify, articulate and publicise arrangements for identifying victim/survivors, 
assessing risk and referring 
 
Response 
The board will be supported by a practitioners forum which will respond to this 
recommendation and make recommendations to strengthen our risk assessment and 
response 
 

4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 

4.1          The work started on borough in March 2014 and was finished early 
September.  The work started with stakeholder interviews, reviewing 
strategies on borough and nationally. In June there was a stakeholder’s 
workshop to review the recommendations proposed by Cordis Bright was 
held. 

 
This paper to CMT is also part of the consultation for the changes. The 
findings and officers recommended response will need to go through our 
partnership infrastructure. 

 

5 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1. The Council and partners will find the most cost effective ways of delivering 
these functions within existing budgets.  

 

6 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1. The Council and Partners have a range of statutory functions relating to the 
services detailed in this report.  The new arrangements are intended to 
strengthen our oversight of the delivery of these duties. 

 

7 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS 

Page 28



 

 

 

8 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 

 

• 1.1           Cordis Bright Executive Summary and recommendations 

• 1.2           draft proposed structure chart under the new governance 

• 1.3           draft terms of reference for the new VAWG strategic board 

 

•  

9 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

CORDIS BRIGHT NEEDS ANALYSIS SEPT 2014 

Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



P
age 39



P
age 40



P
age 41



P
age 42



P
age 43



P
age 44



Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT VAWG Governance Structure Chart 

 

 

 

 

 

 

VAWG Board 

 

Merton Safeguarding 

Children’s Board 

Commissioning Group Practitioners Forum 

Safer & Stronger 

 

Children’s Trust 

 

Health & Wellbeing 

 Adult Safeguarding 

 

P
age 47



P
age 48

T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e  

 

DRAFT           
Violence against Women and Girls Board 
 

Section1: Terms of Reference 
 
 
 

The VAWG Board will oversee the delivery of the council’s and partnership’s 
response to: 

• Domestic Violence 

• Rape and Sexual Violence 

• Female Genital Mutilation 

• Forced Marriage 

• Crimes in the name of “honour” 

• Sexual Harassment 

• Stalking 

• Trafficking 

• Prostitution and Sexual Exploitation 

• Children at risk of sexual Exploitation 

This will be carried out inline with the Mayor of London’s “The way forward a 
call for action to end violence against women” and in the context of the 
London Safeguarding Children’s Board agreed pan London Protocols. 

 
 
 

 
Purpose 
 
To set the strategic direction for Merton’s partnership work on VAWG  
 
To commission an over-arching strategy encompassing the VAWG key strands 
and establishing clear local priorities. 
 
To hold partnership leads for specific strands of activity to account through and 
effective performance framework. 
 
To improve joint working in relation to commissioning  VAWG services 
 
To improve practitioner joint working, risk assessment and practice 
 
To ensure the operational delivery of the recommendations from the VAWG 
Needs Assessment and to implement the VAWG agenda within the borough. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



2 | P a g e  

 

 
 
 

Section 2: Operation of the Board 
 
Good Practice 
 
The VAWG Board agrees to work to the best practice. 
 
Membership 

• CMT Lead (co-chair) 

• Strategic Lead within Merton Police ( co-chair) 

• Chair of the MARAC  

• Representatives from Children’s Safeguarding, Education and Care 

• Housing Needs Manager  

• Assistant Chief Probation Officer  

• Merton Victim Support Manager 

• Strategic Lead within Public Health 

• Lead within Adult Safeguarding 

• Lead within MVSC 

• Victim Support, Merton Manager 
 
Support 
 
This will need to be resolved through the discussions re Safer Merton but will 
need to cover policy and strategy development, performance/needs 
assessment and administration. 
 
Designated leads will be needed from service areas 
 
 
 
Substitution 
 
All members will attempt to send a named substitute with delegated authority to 
the meetings that they are unable to attend. 
 
 
Chairing 
 
The Director for Children Schools and Families and senior Police officer will co- 
chair the meeting.  
 
 
Frequency 

Page 50



3 | P a g e  

 

 
There will be two meetings held in 2014. From 2015 the board will meet 3 times 
a year with the practitioners group and Commissioning group meeting between 
this board. 
 
The duration of these meeting will be no longer than 2hrs. 
 
The first year’s meetings will be booked in advance at the first meeting, and 
then annual bookings will be made. 
 
Core Agenda Items 
 
The agenda will contain certain core items that will appear each meeting, as 
well as meeting-specific items.  The agenda will always include: 

• Welcome/apologies 

• Minutes of the last meeting 

• Outstanding actions 
 
A full standard agenda will be agreed by the board. 
 
Reporting 
 
The work of the VAWG Board will report to: Children’s Trust, Merton 
Safeguarding Children’s Board, Safer & Stronger Strategy Group and the 
Health and Wellbeing Board. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Commission  

Date: 25 November 2014 

Wards: ALL 

Subject:  My Merton distribution 

Lead officer: Ged Curran  

Lead member: Councillor Mark Allison  

Contact officer: Sophie Poole 

Recommendations:  

A. The Commission is requested to discuss and comment on the report and  advise 
if further data is required 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The commission has requested a brief report on the distribution of the 
circulation and distribution of My Merton, to include results from the Annual 
Residents Survey in relation to readership. This report is provided as an 
information paper which sets out the relevant data for the commission’s 
consideration. 

2  

BACKGROUND AND CURRENT SET UP 

2.1. My Merton is the council’s resident magazine which is produced quarterly 
and delivered door to door to 81,000 households across the borough. 
London Letterbox is the council’s current distribution supplier.  
 

2.2. In addition, approximately 3000 copies are available at council satellite 
offices across the borough including libraries. Copies are also available at 
the Wimbledon Information Desk in Centre Court Shopping Centre. A 
digital copy of My Merton is available to download from the council 
website, where readers will also find an archive of back issues. A link to 
the digital version is shared via the council’s social media channels, 
Twitter and Facebook and can be accessed via the council’s digital news 
room. So far in 2014, the digital version of My Merton has been received a 
total of 4480 visits, averaging 1200 visits per issue. 

 

2.3. My Merton has been in circulation since October 2003. It was originally 
set up as a bi-monthly magazine with 80,000 copies distributed by Royal 
Mail to every household in Merton. Copies were also available at key 
locations across the borough. Although the magazine itself was well 
received, the council received a number of complaints from residents 
regarding unsuccessful delivery. Therefore in 2005, the council changed to 
the current delivery supplier, London Letterbox.  

2.4. In 2010 the frequency of the magazine reduced to quarterly in order to 
find savings. In 2011, the Local Government Publicity Code was revised 

Agenda Item 6

Page 53



stating that all council magazines should be produced on a quarterly basis 
or less. In 2014, the Local Government Publicity Code became legislation. 
 
PREVIOUS COUNCIL PUBLICATIONS  

2.5. The council’s first resident publication was published in 1994 and was a 
monthly newspaper. Named Merton Messenger, it was delivered door to 
door to every household in Merton. In 1999, the paper was replaced by a 
quarterly magazine called the new Merton Messenger in order to find 
savings. 
 

2.6. In 2000 the decision was taken to take Merton Messenger as a saving. 
Instead, in 2001, the council redirected its advertising spend, placing a 
double page advertorial in the local Guardian each week as a way of 
keeping residents informed.  
 

2.7. Over time the Guardian reduced the circulation of their paper across the 
borough. As a result the council received a significant number of 
complaints from residents not receiving a copy of the Guardian. Therefore 
in 2003, a decision was taken to reinstate a council magazine to be 
delivered to every household in the borough, the result of which is My 
Merton 

 
ANALYSIS OF ANNUAL RESIDENT SURVEY RESULTS 

2.8. In 2002 and 2010, IPSOS MORI and LGA together with the IDeA 
conducted a piece of research to investigate what affected councils 
informed rating. Not surprisingly, having a regular council publication was 
found to have a direct impact on the number of residents who said they 
feel informed about the council. 

It is useful to see how the annual residents’ survey informed ratings have 
been affected over the last 20 years, when the distribution or frequency of 
the magazine has changed. A breakdown of these figures is in Appendix 1 
with a key summary in the table below:  

Year Rating % -/+ Distribution Circulation Issues 
per year 

Publication 

1995 69% 0 Door to door Borough-wide 12 Merton 
Messenger 

1999 50% -19% Door to door Borough-wide 4 New Merton 
Messenger 

2002 61% +11 Local paper Reduced 
coverage 

52 Merton News 

2004 56% -5 Door to Door Royal 
Mail 

Borough-wide 6 My Merton 

2005 62% +7 Door to Door 
London Letterbox 

Boroughwide 6 My Merton 

2007-
2013 

70% 
and over 

Merton performs consistently above the London and Outer London average. 
The current informed rating is 76%. 

2.9. Since 2007, the informed rating has been consistently about the London 
and outer London average. It is also worth noting that the informed rating 
did not dip in 2010 following a reduction in frequency from bi-monthly to 

Page 54



quarterly. However this also coincided with the magazine first being 
available online, and therefore it is possible residents started to view the 
digital version of My Merton instead. 
 
READERSHIP 

 
2.10. Since 2012, the annual residents’ survey has included a question, asking 

how residents keep informed about what’s happening in Merton. In 2012, 
the local Guardian came top, with My Merton second and the council 
website third. In 2013, My Merton took the top spot, followed by the local 
Guardian with the council website coming third.  

 

2.11. Delving deeper into the results, the table featured below shows how 
residents responded by age. Predominantly residents who are 50 years 
old and over said they read My Merton to keep informed about what’s 
happening in Merton. It is worth noting that 26% of residents aged 18-34 
said they use the council website.  

 

Age My Merton Website 

18-34 year olds 19% 26% 

35-49 year olds 33% 29% 

50-59 year olds 42% 28% 

60+ 47% 13% 

 

2.12. Slightly more females (33%) than males (32%) chose My Merton as their 
preferred channel. Looking at ethnicity, 36 per cent of people who 
classified themselves as white responded to say they read My Merton to 
keep informed about what is happening in Merton, with 25 per cent from 
the BME population. This figure is broken down by Asian (27%) and 
Black/Black Brit (25%).  

 

2.13. For social economic backgrounds, the largest group was C1.  
 

 My Merton Website 

AB 33% 29% 

C1 35% 26% 

C2 33% 23% 

DE 28% 21% 

 

2.14. Looking at working status, people who are retired responded with the 
highest percentage (45%), followed by those in employment (31%) and 
unemployed (25%). Households without children (32%) came out slightly 
higher compared to households with children (33%).  

Page 55



2.15. Breaking readership down by location, My Merton is read more in 
Mitcham and Morden, than in Wimbledon. The ward clusters are set out as 
follows: 

 My Merton Website 

Village/Hillside/Raynes 
Park/Wimbledon Park 

22% 23% 

Dundonald/Trinity/Abbey 20% 23% 

Cannon Hill/Merton 
Park/W.Barnes/
Lower Morden 

33% 23% 

Lavender Fields/Pollards 
Hill/Figge’s 
Marsh 

36% 24% 

Ravensbury  
St Helier/Cricket Green 

45% 23% 

Colliers Wood 
Graveney/Longthonrton 

38% 30% 

 

2.16. The same set of questions are being asked in the 2014 survey, so 
response rates can start to be tracked over time. 

 

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
As this paper is for information there are no alternative options being put 
forward for consideration at this stage. 

 

4 CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 

Again as this is an information paper, no consultation has taken place in 
relation to this paper at this stage. 
 

5 TIMETABLE 

As this paper is for information there is no timetable for delivery at this 
stage.  

 

6 FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

As this paper is for information there are no implications at this stage. 
However it is worth noting that the distribution supplier is commissioned on 
an issue by issue basis, therefore there is no binding contract. 

 

7 LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

As this paper is for information there are no implications at this stage. My 
Merton is a non-statutory function. 

 

Page 56



8 HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION 
IMPLICATIONS 

As this paper is for information there are no implications at this stage. 
However if the council were to review the distribution method, 
consideration to accessibility would need to be carefully considered, as 
previous experience has demonstrated.  
 

9 CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

As this paper is for information there are no implications at this stage.  
 

10 RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

As this paper is for information there are no implications at this stage.  
 

11 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Annual Residents Survey results - 2013 
 

12 APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Page 57



Page 58

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



P
age 87



P
age 88



P
age 89



P
age 90



P
age 91



P
age 92



P
age 93



P
age 94



P
age 95



P
age 96



P
age 97



P
age 98



P
age 99



P
age 100



P
age 101



P
age 102



P
age 103



P
age 104



P
age 105



P
age 106



P
age 107



P
age 108



P
age 109



P
age 110



P
age 111



P
age 112



P
age 113



P
age 114



P
age 115



P
age 116



P
age 117



P
age 118



P
age 119



P
age 120



P
age 121



P
age 122



Page 123



Page 124



P
age 125



P
age 126



P
age 127



P
age 128



P
age 129



P
age 130



Page 131



Page 132



P
age 133



P
age 134



P
age 135



P
age 136



P
age 137



P
age 138



P
age 139



P
age 140



P
age 141



P
age 142



Page 143



Page 144



P
age 145



P
age 146



P
age 147



P
age 148



P
age 149



P
age 150



P
age 151



P
age 152



P
age 153



P
age 154



P
age 155



P
age 156



P
age 157



P
age 158



Page 159



Page 160



P
age 161



P
age 162



P
age 163



P
age 164



P
age 165



P
age 166



P
age 167



P
age 168



P
age 169



P
age 170



P
age 171



P
age 172



P
age 173



P
age 174



P
age 175



P
age 176



P
age 177



P
age 178



P
age 179



P
age 180



P
age 181



P
age 182



P
age 183



P
age 184



P
age 185



P
age 186



P
age 187



P
age 188



Page 189



P
age 190



P
age 191



P
age 192



P
age 193



P
age 194



P
age 195



P
age 196



www.merton.gov.uk 

Committee:  Overview and Scrutiny Commission 

Date:   25 November 2014 
Wards:   All 

Subject:      Scrutiny of the Business Plan 2015-2019: comments and 
recommendations from the overview and scrutiny panels 

Lead officer:   Julia Regan, Head of Democracy Services 

Lead member:  Councillor Peter Southgate, Chair of Overview & Scrutiny  

Contact officer:   Julia Regan; Julia.regan@merton.gov.uk; 020 8545 3864 

 

Recommendations: 

A  That in determining its response to Cabinet on the business plan 2015-19, the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission considers and takes into account the 
comments and recommendations made by overview and scrutiny panels. 

 

1.  PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1  This report sets out the comments and recommendations of each of the 
overview and scrutiny panels following consideration of the business plan. 
The Overview and Scrutiny Commission is recommended to take these into 
account when determining its response to Cabinet.   

2.  DETAILS  

2.1 On 20 October 2014, Cabinet received a report on the business plan for 
2015-19. This included details of savings targets and the draft capital 
programme 2015-19.  These items have been reported to the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panels and to the Commission so that comments and 
recommendations from scrutiny can be conveyed to Cabinet at its meeting 
on 8 December 2014. 

2.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Commission has a constitutional duty to 
coordinate the scrutiny responses on the business plan and budget 
formulation. The outcome of scrutiny by the panels (described in section 3 
below) is presented to Commission for this purpose.  

2.3 The substantive report on the Business Plan 2015-2019 is contained 
elsewhere on this agenda for the Commission’s consideration.   

 

3. FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY PANELS  

3.1           Appendix 1 contains comments and recommendations made by the scrutiny 
panels. 

Agenda Item 8

Page 197



www.merton.gov.uk 

3.5 The Overview and Scrutiny Commission is recommended to consider the 
comments and recommendations put forward by the scrutiny panels when 
determining its overall scrutiny response to Cabinet on the Business Plan 
2015-19. 

 

4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS  

4.1 The Constitution requires the Overview and Scrutiny Commission to 
consider the comments and recommendations put forward by the overview 
and scrutiny panels and to agree a joint overview and scrutiny response. 
Cabinet is then required under the terms of the Constitution to receive, 
consider and respond to references from overview and scrutiny. 

 

5.  CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 

5.1 The Constitution contains the requirements for consulting scrutiny on the 
budget and business plan.  There is an initial phase of scrutiny in November 
each year, with the second round in January/February representing the 
formal consultation of scrutiny on the proposed Business Plan, Budget and 
Capital Programme. 

 

6. TIMETABLE 

6.1 Round one of scrutiny of the 2015-19 Business Plan was undertaken as 
follows:- 

• Children & Young People Overview & Scrutiny Panel: 4 November 2014 

• Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel: 11 November 2014 

• Healthier Communities & Older People Scrutiny Panel:12 November  

• Overview and Scrutiny Commission: 25 November 2014 

 

6.2 Comments and recommendations from round one will be reported to 
Cabinet on 8 December 2014. 

6.3 Round two of scrutiny of the Business Plan is planned as follows:- 

• Sustainable Communities Overview & Scrutiny Panel: 8 January 2015 

• Children & Young People Overview & Scrutiny Panel: 13 January 2015 

• Healthier Communities & Older People Scrutiny Panel:14 January 2015 

• Overview and Scrutiny Commission: 29 January 2015 

6.4 The responses from round two will be presented to Cabinet on 16 February 
2015.  A meeting of full Council will then take place on 4 March 2015.  

 

 

7.       FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1            These are detailed in the substantive reports elsewhere on this agenda and 
in the reports considered by Cabinet on 20 October 2014.        

Page 198



www.merton.gov.uk 

8.       LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

8.1            The process for developing the budget and business plan is set out in Part 
4C of the Council’s Constitution.  The role of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission and panels with regard to the development of the budget and 
business plan is set out in Part 4E of the Constitution.        

8.2 The legal and statutory implications relating to the Business Plan are 
contained in the reports elsewhere on this agenda. 

9.              CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

9.1       None directly relating to this report. 

10. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION  
IMPLICATIONS 

10.1          It is a fundamental aim of the scrutiny process to ensure that there is full 
and equal access to the democratic process through public involvement and 
engagement.         

11.       RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

11.1          These implications are detailed in the reports elsewhere on this agenda.   

12. APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE 
PUBLISHED WITH THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 

Appendix 1: comments and recommendations made by the scrutiny panels 
in relation to the Business Plan 2015-19. 

13. BACKGROUND PAPERS  

13.1          Minutes of the meetings of the Overview & Scrutiny Panels in November 
2014. 

 

Page 199



www.merton.gov.uk 

Appendix 1 

 

References/Comments from Scrutiny Panels to the Overview & Scrutiny 
Commission 25 November 2014 

Scrutiny of the Business Plan 2015-2019 

 

Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel: 4 November 2014  

The Panel noted the report and agreed to forward their recommendations and 
comments to the Overview and Scrutiny Commission for consideration as follows: 

SEN Transport (CSF2012-05): The Panel recommends officers expedite such savings 
as can be achieved from the SEN budget without detriment to users. 

All savings: That the Panel reluctantly agree the proposed savings and have noted 
those savings to be replaced.  

 

Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel: 11 November 2014 
 
The Panel noted and commented on the report. No comments were forwarded to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission. 
 

Healthier Communities and Older People O&S Panel: 12 November 2014 

The Panel raised some concerns about the knock on effects of budget cuts. It was 
agreed that this would be discussed in more detail at the January budget scrutiny 
meeting. 
 
 

Page 200



All minutes are draft until agreed at the next meeting of the committee/panel.  To find out the date of the next 
meeting please check the calendar of events at your local library or online at www.merton.gov.uk/committee. 

 

1 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION - FINANCIAL MONITORING TASK 
GROUP 
5 NOVEMBER 2014 

(19.00 - 20.05) 

PRESENT: Councillor Suzanne Grocott (in the Chair), 
Councillor Peter McCabe, Councillor Dennis Pearce and 
Councillor Peter Southgate 
 
 

ALSO PRESENT:  Paul Dale (Assistant Director of Resources), Caroline Holland 
(Director of Corporate Services) and Julia Regan (Head of 
Democracy Services) 
 

 
1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (Agenda Item 1) 

 
Apologies were received from Councillor Hamish Badenoch. 
 
2  MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON 22 JULY 2014 (Agenda Item 2) 

 
Agreed. 
 
3  FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT - QUARTER 2 (Agenda Item 3) 

 
Caroline Holland, Director of Corporate Services, introduced the report. She said that 
the forecast overspend of £4.37m had decreased by £0.9m since the previous 
month. Mitigating action taken by officers should lead to further decreases but there 
is likely to be a small overspend at year end. She drew the task group’s attention to 
the recommendations made to Cabinet and to information that had been provided, 
including on capital virements, progress on previous savings and the miscellaneous 
debt update. 
 
Councillor Suzanne Grocott asked to be sent further detail of the charges and work 
done on the item “rebuild unsafe wall” (page 17). ACTION: Director of Corporate 
Services. 
 
In response to a question about the virement for the procurement strategy, Paul Dale, 
Assistant Director of Resources, explained that the additional staff would enable 
efficiency savings to be made.  
 
Revenue budget 2014/15 (pages 18-37) 
Task group members expressed concern at the projected overspend and asked what 
was being done to address this. Caroline Holland said that officers had been required 
to be much more rigorous and to control spend where possible. She added that the 
decrease between months 5 and 6 demonstrated that this action was beginning to 
take effect and that officers were taking the projected overspend seriously. 
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 201



2 

Paul Dale, described the work that he was carrying out to establish which aspects of 
the overspend were one-off items, which were ongoing cost pressures and which 
were caused by failure to deliver on previously agreed savings. He said that there 
were different factors in different areas. 
 
Caroline Holland and Paul Dale provided further detail on some of the departmental 
items was provided in response to task group members’ questions: 
 

• Human resources (page 22) – the contract for the WCN recruitment system 
will last a further 18 months 

• Childrens social care (page 25) has an ongoing overspend on social workers 
due to difficulties of recruiting and retaining permanent staff. A variety of 
measures have been put in place to address this but it is a regional issue and 
success so far has therefore been limited 

• South London Waste Partnership (SLWP) overspend (page 34) is being 
investigated by Paul Dale 

• Greenspaces (page 35) budget is being reviewed to address the mismatch 
between service activity and the base budget 

• Building and development control (page 35) – the enhancement of the service 
was actioned in response to a recommendation from the Sustainable 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel 

 
Paul Dale undertook to ensure that acronyms would be set out in full in future reports. 
ACTION: Assistant Director of Resources 
 
Savings progress 2014/15 (pages 58-72) 
Task group members noted that the 30% shortfall in the delivery of savings was an 
improvement on the 47% reported at the last meeting and asked whether further 
improvement was expected. Caroline Holland confirmed that further progress was 
expected. 
In response to questions about lack of progress on some of the community and 
housing department savings, Caroline Holland said that the Director was reviewing 
the adult social care service to identify what is required to drive these savings 
forward. 
 
Miscellaneous debt update (pages 80-87) 
Task group members noted that the level of housing benefit debt had stabilised but 
that for community and housing was rising. Paul Dale explained that the community 
and housing debts included debt secured against property whilst the owner was in 
residential care. This would eventually be recouped. 
 
Caroline Holland added that debt is reviewed regularly and written off if deemed to be 
unrecoverable. 
 
 

Page 202



 

Committee:  Overview and Scrutiny Commission 

Date:  25 November 2014 
Wards:  All  

Subject:  Proposal for the recruitment of new co-opted members to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Commission 

Lead officer:  Julia Regan, Head of Democracy Services 

Lead member:  Cllr Peter Southgate, Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission 

Contact officer: Julia Regan: Julia.regan@merton.gov.uk 020 8545 3864 

Recommendations:  

That the Overview and Scrutiny Commission consider the proposals set out in this report 
and agree any changes it wishes to make to the process for the recruitment of non-voting 
co-opted members to the Commission.   

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 The Commission, at its meeting on 7 October 2014, discussed and agreed proposals 
for a formal process for the appointment of non voting co-opted members, drawing on 
procedures that the Healthier Communities and Older People Overview and Scrutiny 
Panel has recently put in place. The intention is to attract co-opted members from 
across the community through an open and transparent recruitment process.  

1.2 The Commission agreed that the proposed approach could be adopted flexibly to 
meet the specific individual needs of the Commission and the three Panels. It 
recommended that appointments be made for a 12 month period and that positions 
be advertised in My Merton. 

1.3 This report sets out proposals for the recruitment and support of a maximum of two 
new non-voting co-opted scrutiny members on the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission.  

1.4 Note that the arrangements for appointing the statutory co-opted members (the 
Diocesan Board and Parent Governor representatives on the Children & Young 
People Panel and on the Commission) are not within the control of the council and 
are therefore not addressed in the report. 

  

2. BACKGROUND 

  

2.1 Co-opted members can provide scrutiny committees or task groups with outside 
knowledge, experience and skills that can inform the work of scrutiny and 
complement the role of councillors. Co-opted members can be particularly helpful in 
representing community perspectives, contributing a wider perspective and 
encouraging public engagement. 

Agenda Item 10

Page 203



 

2.2 The Commission and its associated task groups may also call upon expert witnesses 
to present information and ask/answer questions for particular agenda items or 
meetings – this may be a more effective use of that person’s time given the wide remit 
of the Commission. 

2.3 The Commission’s remit includes: 

• Crime and community safety, anti-social behaviour, drugs & alcohol treatment, 
domestic violence and road safety 

•    Stronger communities: community leadership, voluntary & community sector, 
public involvement & consultation; community cohesion, service delivery diversity 
& equalities 

•   Cross-cutting & strategic matters, including scrutiny of the budget & business plan, 
financial monitoring and the performance monitoring framework and the approach 
to partnership arrangements 

•    Corporate capacity issues – communications, legal, human resources, IT, 
customer service 

•     Responsibility for keeping scrutiny under review 

 

3. BACKGROUND 

3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Commission is asked to consider the proposals set out 
below and agree any changes it wishes to make to the process for the recruitment of 
non-voting co-opted members to the Commission: 

Advertisement 

3.2 The role must be widely advertised. This should include the Council’s website, My 
Merton, Merton Voluntary Service Council e-bulletin plus emails to local community 
organisations and resident associations. 

3.3 In order to ensure that there is maximum learning from recruitment to the Healthier 
Communities and Older people Overview and Scrutiny Panel, it is proposed that the 
advertisement for co-option to the Commission will be placed in January 2015.. 

3.4 Role description 

3.5       A draft role description and person specification is set out in Appendix 1. 

3.6      It is proposed that the advertisement for co-opted members should state that the 
Commission would particularly welcome applications from people who have a 
particular interest or experience of crime and community safety issues or financial 
expertise. 

3.7 Selection 

3.8 Applicants will be shortlisted against the criteria set out in the role description. 

3.9 Shortlisted applicants will be invited to an informal 20 minute interview with the Chair, 
Vice Chair and Head of Democracy Services. 

3.10 The appointment should be made for a twelve month period and applicants will be 
encouraged to attend a meeting of the Commission prior to making a final decision.  

3.11 In recognition of the existing size of the Commission, it is proposed that a maximum 
of two people will be appointed. 

3.12 Support  

Page 204



 

3.13 Co-opted members should attend an induction briefing with the scrutiny officer prior to 
attending the first panel or task group meeting. 

3.14 Co-opted members should be invited to join any training that is provided to scrutiny 
councillors. 

3.15 Non-voting co-opted members will not be paid an allowance but travel and any 
reasonable subsistence expenses that are incurred whilst fulfilling duties as a co-
opted member will be re-imbursed. 

 

4. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 

4.1 The Commission is invited to discuss the proposals within the report and request any 
changes that it wishes to make. 

5. CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN OR PROPOSED 

5.1 None for the purposes of this report. 

6. FINANCIAL, RESOURCE AND PROPERTY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 The cost of recruitment and support of co-opted members would be met within 
existing budgets. 

7. LEGAL AND STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 The Local Government Act 2000 provides for the formal co-option of a person onto a 
committee to occupy a non-voting position.  

8. HUMAN RIGHTS, EQUALITIES AND COMMUNITY COHESION IMPLICATIONS 

8.1 It is a fundamental aim of the scrutiny process to ensure that there is full and equal 
access to the democratic process through public involvement and engagement. The 
proposed approach for a widely advertised and clear process will enable local 
residents and community and voluntary sector groups to apply for these positions and 
to engage with scrutiny. 

9. CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 The Police and Justice Act 2006 allows crime and disorder committees (the 
Commission has this role in Merton) to co-opt additional members with particular 
expertise in crime and disorder issues. Co-optees must be employees, officers or 
members of one of the responsible authorities. Cabinet Members may not be co-
opted.     

10. RISK MANAGEMENT AND HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

10.1 There are none specific to this report.   

11. APPENDICES – THE FOLLOWING DOCUMENTS ARE TO BE PUBLISHED WITH 

THIS REPORT AND FORM PART OF THE REPORT 

11.1 Appendix 1 –draft role description and person specification for appointment of non-
voting co-opted persons to the Overview and Scrutiny Commission. 

12. BACKGROUND PAPERS  

12.1 None  

Page 205



 

                                                         Appendix 1 

Role Description  
 
Position:  
Voluntary Co-opted Scrutiny Member to the Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
 
 
Background information 
 
Are you interested in improving local public services? 
 
Are you able to investigate issues in-depth; work in a non-party political way; focus on the needs 
of the whole borough and not just those of where you live or the group that you identify with, 
and give up your time to attend and actively participate in meetings? 
 
If the answer is yes, then volunteering as a co-opted member could be for you. The Council 
currently has vacancies for non-statutory, voluntary co-opted scrutiny members to serve on the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission. 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Commission is responsible for the scrutiny of cross cutting and 
strategic issues, crime and disorder and issues relating to the council’s “corporate capacity”. 
The Commission acts as a coordinating body in supporting the three Overview and Scrutiny 
Panels and has responsibility for developing and keeping scrutiny under review.    
 
Scrutiny Committees do not make decisions on spending or policy – this is a function of the 
Cabinet and the full Council. Neither can Scrutiny Committees, by law, investigate individual 
complaints against the Council or other public bodies. 
 
A Scrutiny Co-opted Member’s Role 
 
As a co-opted member, you will work with elected councillors from all parties on the Overview 
and Scrutiny Commission and will be expected to use your relevant skills and knowledge to add 
to the discussion and debate. 
 
You may also be invited to join a task group to look at a particular issue or service in greater 
depth, where you have relevant knowledge or expertise. 
 
Time Commitment 
Co-opted members will be expected to attend Overview and Scrutiny Commission meetings 
(approximately 6 times a year but this may vary) which are held from 7.15pm in the 
evening at the civic centre and last a maximum of three hours. You will need to allow some time 
before the meeting to read and consider reports and to attend any additional member 
development meetings or site visits. 
 
Terms of Appointment 
Co-opted members will be appointed for a period of twelve months initially and may be re-
appointed for a further twelve months by the Commission. Co-opted members will also be 
required to comply with any conditions that are attached to the position. Where there is a breach 
of conditions, co-option will cease following consideration by the Head of Democracy Services 
and the Monitoring Officer. 
 
 

Page 206



 

Training 
You will be given the opportunity to learn about how aspects of council services are 
delivered and to take part in scrutiny training sessions and any site visits that members of the 
overview and Scrutiny Commission undertake. Dates will be provided as and when they 
become available. 
 
Application 
You will need to complete an application form and this should be supported by a reference. 
 
 Conditions of appointment 
 
All applications will be evaluated against the competencies stated above. 
 
The total number of non-statutory co-opted members to the Commission will not exceed the 
required number of two. Where the number of applications exceeds this number, the most 
appropriate representatives will be selected. 
 
Co-opted members will be entitled to claim travelling or other reasonable  expenses. 
A candidate for appointment must disclose any relationship to a Councillor or to any member of 
staff. 
 
Successful applicants will be expected to observe the Code of Conduct for Members, as set out 
in the Council’s Constitution which covers, among other matters, treating others with respect, 
not disclosing confidential information and disclosing relevant financial interests. The Code of 
Conduct can be found in the Merton constitution which is on the website or at the following link:  
 
http://democracy.merton.gov.uk/documents/s2597/Part%205A.pdf 
 
The deadline for applications is Friday 30 January 2015. Completed application forms should be 
either emailed or posted to: 
 
Email: scrutiny@merton.gov.uk 

 

Post: London Borough of Merton, Democracy Services, London Road, Morden SM4 5DX 

Page 207



 

Overview and Scrutiny Commission – appointment of a co-opted member 

Person specification 

Qualifications: 

No formal qualifications  are required 

Essential: 

Be able to contribute to the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission as a 
whole in terms of debate, local knowledge and insight into issues of local concern. 
 
Have a working knowledge and/or experience of one or more of the following 
areas: 

• Crime and community safety 

• Public sector finance 

• Voluntary and community sector 

• Diversity and equalities issues 

• Performance management 
 
Be committed to equalities and the positive development of all Communities in 
Merton. 
 
To be a good communicator and to be able to contribute constructively to 
discussions 
 
Have an understanding of local government. 
 
Be available to attend evening meetings in the civic centre 
 
Live or work in the borough 
 
To build positive relationships with other Commission members, councillors, 
partner organisations and officers in the council.   
 
To sign up to the councils code of conduct and complete the declaration of 
pecuniary interest form. 

Desirable 

Experience of working in committee structure in the public, private or voluntary 
sector. 
 
Understanding of the work of locally elected councillors 
 
Be able to offer relevant specialist skills or knowledge relevant to the work of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission. 
 

Other requirements: 

Must not be disqualified from standing for election as a councillor, ie been 
adjudged bankrupt or been sentenced to a term of imprisonment for a period of 
not less than three months in the past five years. 

 

Page 208



 1 

Overview and Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 
2014/15  
 
This table sets out the Overview and Scrutiny Commission’s Work Programme for 2014/15  that was agreed by the Commission at 
its meeting on 8 July 2014. This work programme will be considered at every meeting of the Commission to enable it to respond to 
issues of concern and incorporate reviews or to comment upon pre-decision items ahead of their consideration by Cabinet/Council. 
 
The work programme table shows items on a meeting by meeting basis, identifying the issue under review, the nature of the 
scrutiny (pre decision, policy development, issue specific, performance monitoring, partnership related) and the intended outcomes. 
The last page provides information on items on the Council’s Forward Plan that relate to the portfolio of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission so that these can be added to the work programme should the Commission wish to. 
 
The Commission is asked to identify any work programme items that would be suitable for the use of an informal 
preparatory session (or other format) to develop lines of questioning (as recommended by the 2009 review of the scrutiny 
function). 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Commission has specific responsibilities regarding budget and financial performance scrutiny and 
performance monitoring which it has delegated to the financial monitoring task group – agendas and minutes are published on the 
Council’s website. 
 
Scrutiny Support 
For further information on the work programme of the Overview and Scrutiny Commission please contact: - 
Julia Regan, Head of Democracy Services, 0208 545 3864, Julia.regan@merton.gov.uk A

genda Item
 11

P
age 209



 2 

Meeting date – 7 October 2014  
 

Scrutiny category Item/Issue How Lead Member/ 
Lead Officer 

Intended Outcomes 
 

     

Scrutiny of crime and 
disorder 

Borough Commander Presentation/report and 
in-depth discussion 

Borough Commander Update on policing 
issues 

     

Holding the executive to 
account 

Customer contact 
programme 

Report Sophie Ellis, Assistant 
Director of Business 
Improvement 

Progress report for 
comment 

     

Policy development CCTV review  Report from external 
consultant 

Chris Lee, Director of 
Environment and 
Regeneration 

To review with a view to 
follow up through task 
group review 

     

Scrutiny reviews Review of use of co-
option and expert 
witnesses in scrutiny 

Report Cllr Peter Southgate 
Julia Regan 

To discuss and agree 
policy in relation to 
recruitment of co-opted 
members 

 Financial monitoring 
task group 

Minutes of meeting  Cllr Peter Southgate 
Julia Regan 

To note minutes of 
meeting held on  
22.07.14 

 

P
age 210



 3 

 

Meeting date – 25 November 2014 
 

Scrutiny category Item/Issue How Lead Member/ 
Lead Officer 

Intended Outcomes 
 

Budget scrutiny Business Plan 2015/19 -
information pertaining to 
round one of budget 
scrutiny  

Report – to include safer 
Merton service plan 

Cllr Mark Allison 
Caroline Holland, 
Director of Corporate 
Services 

To send comments to 
Cabinet  budget meeting 
8 December 

     

Policy development Financial resilience 
project 

Update report Simon Williams, Director 
of Community and 
Housing 

To impact on emerging 
recommendations 
and/or the action plan 

 Domestic violence audit Report on findings and 
outcome of the audit 
and update on 
discussions regarding 
location of DV services 

Chris Lee, Director of 
Environment and 
Regeneration 

To discuss and 
comment 

 My Merton Short briefing report on 
circulation and 
distribution, to include 
results from annual 
Residents Survey in 
relation to readership 

Sophie Poole, Head of 
Communications 

To discuss and 
comment 

     

Scrutiny reviews Financial monitoring 
task group 

Minutes of meeting  Cllr Peter Southgate 
Julia Regan 

To note minutes of 
meeting held on  
05.11.14 

 
 

P
age 211



 4 

 
Meeting date – 29 January 2054 – scrutiny of the budget 
 

Scrutiny category Item/Issue How Lead Member/Lead 
Officer 

Intended Outcomes 
 

     

Budget scrutiny Business Plan 2015/19 Report – common pack 
for Panels and 
Commission  

Cllr Mark Allison, 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
Caroline Holland, 
Director of Corporate 
Services 

To report to Cabinet on 
budget scrutiny round  2 

 Business Plan update  - 
latest info from Cabinet 
19 January (if any)  

Report Cllr Mark Allison, 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
Caroline Holland, 
Director of Corporate 
Services 

To report to Cabinet on 
budget scrutiny round  2 

     

     

 

P
age 212



 5 

Meeting date – 10 March 2015 
 

Scrutiny category Item/Issue How Lead Member/Lead 
Officer 

Intended 
Outcomes 
 

Scrutiny of crime 
and disorder 

Discussion of 
questions for the 
Borough 
Commander 

Discussion Cllr Peter Southgate 
Julia Regan 

Discussion to plan 
line of questioning 
for meeting on 25 
March 

     

Policy review Monitoring the 
Council’s equalities 
commitments 

Report Yvette Stanley, 
Director, Children 
Schools and Families 

To comment on 
annual action plan 
update  

     

Holding the 
executive to 
account 

Customer contact 
programme 

Report Sophie Ellis, 
Assistant Director of 
Business 
Improvement 

Progress report for 
comment 

     

Performance 
management 

Members’ Survey 
2014 - analysis 

Report Cllr Peter Southgate 
Julia Regan 

Discuss findings 
and agree action 
plan for 2015/16 

     

Scrutiny reviews Financial monitoring 
task group 

Minutes of meeting Cllr Peter Southgate 
Julia Regan 

Note minutes of 
meeting held on 
26.02.15 

     

 

P
age 213



 6 

Meeting date – 25 March 2015 
 

Scrutiny category Item/Issue How Lead Member/Lead 
Officer 

Intended Outcomes 
 

Scrutiny of crime and 
disorder 

Borough Commander Presentation/report and 
discussion 

Borough commander Update on future of 
policing in Merton 

 Rehabilitation strategies Information and data on 
how rehabilitation 
(probation) services are 
delivered and 
anticipated changes in 
line with the Offender 
Rehabilitation Act 2014 

Chris Lee, Director of 
Environment and 
Regeneration 

To assess the impact 
that the Act will have in 
Merton & whether it 
wishes to make any 
recommendations about 
ways of working locally 

Holding the executive to 
account 

CCTV update Report from CCTV 
steering group 

Chris Lee, Director of 
Environment and 
Regeneration 

Update on 
implementation of action 
plan 

     

Performance 
management 

Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report 

Report Cllr Peter Southgate 
Julia Regan 

To approve and forward 
to Council 

     

Holding the executive to 
account 

Volunteering Report Simon Williams, Director 
of Community and 
Housing 

Update on 
implementation of  
Merton Partnership 
Volunteering & 
Community Action 
Strategy and annual 
update from lead CMT 
member. 

     
 

P
age 214


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 7 October 2014
	4 Merton's Welfare Reform Action Plan 2013/14 - Progress Update
	5 Domestic violence needs assessment and way forward
	Appendix1.1 - executive summary
	Appendix 1.2 - draft structure chart
	Appendix 1.3 - draft Board terms of reference

	6 My Merton distribution
	7 Business Plan Update 2015/19
	8 Scrutiny of the Business Plan 2015-19: comments and recommendations from the overview and scrutiny panels
	9 Minutes of the meeting of the financial monitoring task group, 5 November 2014
	10 Proposal for the recruitment of new co-opted members to the Overview and Scrutiny Commission
	11 Work programme 2014/15

